
 1 

 Democratic Services 
White Cliffs Business Park 
Dover 
Kent  CT16 3PJ 
 
Telephone: (01304) 821199 
Fax: (01304) 872453 
DX: 6312 
Minicom: (01304) 820115 
Website: www.dover.gov.uk 
e-mail: democraticservices 
 @dover.gov.uk 

 
 
 

3 June 2021 
 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT a meeting of the OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE will be held in the Council Chamber at these Offices on Monday 14 June 2021 
at 6.00 pm when the following business will be transacted.  
 
Members of the public who require further information are asked to contact Rebecca Brough, 
Democratic & Corporate Services Manager on 01304 872304 or by e-mail at 
democraticservices@dover.gov.uk. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
 
Chief Executive  
 

Overview and Scrutiny Committee Membership: 
 
C D Zosseder (Chairman)  

P M Brivio (Vice-Chairman) 
M Bates 
T A Bond 
S C Manion 
M Rose 
R S Walkden 
P Walker 
H M Williams 
Vacancy 

 

 
AGENDA 
 

1    APOLOGIES  (Page 4) 
 

 To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

2    APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS  (Page 5) 
 

 To note appointments of Substitute Members. 

Public Document Pack



 2 

 

3    DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Page 6) 
 

 To receive any declarations of interest from Members in respect of business to be 
transacted on the agenda.  
 

4    MINUTES  (Page 7) 
 

 To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 24 May 2021 (to 
follow). 
 

5    DECISIONS OF THE CABINET RELATING TO RECOMMENDATIONS FROM 
THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  (Page 8) 
 

 To receive the Cabinet decisions in respect of recommendations of the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee. 
 

6    ISSUES REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE BY COUNCIL, CABINET, OR 
ANOTHER COMMITTEE  (Page 9) 
 

 There are no items for consideration. 
 

7    NOTICE OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS  (Pages 10 - 11) 
 

 It is intended that Members should use the Notice of Forthcoming Key Decisions to 
identify topics within the remit of the Committee for future scrutiny. 
 

8    SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 12 - 14) 
 

 It is intended that the Committee monitor and prioritise its rolling work programme. 
 

9    PUBLIC SPEAKING  (Page 15) 
 

 Please note that in accordance with the agreed Protocol for Public Speaking at 
Overview and Scrutiny, the right to speak only applies to agenda items 10 and 11. 
 
Members of the public wishing to speak must register to do so by no later than 
2.00 pm on the second working day (Thursday) before the meeting. 
 

10    REVISED HOUSING ASSISTANCE POLICY  (Pages 16 - 37) 
 

 To consider the attached report of the Head of Regulatory Services. 
 

11    FOOD POVERTY REVIEW   
 

 To consider the draft Review of Food Poverty (to follow). 
 

 
 
 

Access to Meetings and Information 
 

 Members of the public are welcome to attend meetings of the Council, its 
Committees and Sub-Committees.  You may remain present throughout them except 



 3 

during the consideration of exempt or confidential information. 
 

 All meetings are held at the Council Offices, Whitfield unless otherwise indicated on 
the front page of the agenda.  There is disabled access via the Council Chamber 
entrance and a disabled toilet is available in the foyer.  In addition, there is a PA 
system and hearing loop within the Council Chamber. 

 

 Agenda papers are published five clear working days before the meeting.  
Alternatively, a limited supply of agendas will be available at the meeting, free of 
charge, and all agendas, reports and minutes can be viewed and downloaded from 
our website www.dover.gov.uk.  Minutes are normally published within five working 
days of each meeting.  All agenda papers and minutes are available for public 
inspection for a period of six years from the date of the meeting.   

 

 If you require any further information about the contents of this agenda or your right 
to gain access to information held by the Council please contact Rebecca Brough, 
Democratic & Corporate Services Manager, democraticservices@dover.gov.uk, 
telephone: 01304 872304 or email: democraticservices@dover.gov.uk for details. 

 

Large print copies of this agenda can be supplied on request. 



APOLOGIES 

 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

4

Agenda Item No 1



APPOINTMENT OF SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS 

 

To note appointments of Substitute Members. 

5

Agenda Item No 2



Declarations of Interest 

 
 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 

Where a Member has a new or registered DPI in a matter under consideration they must 

disclose that they have an interest and, unless the Monitoring Officer has agreed in advance 

that the DPI is a 'Sensitive Interest', explain the nature of that interest at the meeting. The 

Member must withdraw from the meeting at the commencement of the consideration of any 

matter in which they have declared a DPI and must not participate in any discussion of, or 

vote taken on, the matter unless they have been granted a dispensation permitting them to 

do so. If during the consideration of any item a Member becomes aware that they have a 

DPI in the matter they should declare the interest immediately and, subject to any 

dispensations, withdraw from the meeting. 

Other Significant Interest (OSI) 

Where a Member is declaring an OSI they must also disclose the interest and explain the 

nature of the interest at the meeting. The Member must withdraw from the meeting at the 

commencement of the consideration of any matter in which they have declared a OSI and 

must not participate in any discussion of, or vote taken on, the matter unless they have been 

granted a dispensation to do so or the meeting is one at which members of the public are 

permitted to speak for the purpose of making representations, answering questions or giving 

evidence relating to the matter. In the latter case, the Member may only participate on the 

same basis as a member of the public and cannot participate in any discussion of, or vote 

taken on, the matter and must withdraw from the meeting in accordance with the Council's 

procedure rules. 

Voluntary Announcement of Other Interests (VAOI) 

Where a Member does not have either a DPI or OSI but is of the opinion that for 

transparency reasons alone s/he should make an announcement in respect of a matter 

under consideration, they can make a VAOI. A Member declaring a VAOI may still remain at 

the meeting and vote on the matter under consideration. 

Note to the Code:  

Situations in which a Member may wish to make a VAOI include membership of outside 

bodies that have made representations on agenda items; where a Member knows a person 

involved, but does not have a close association with that person; or where an item would 

affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc. but not his/her 

financial position. It should be emphasised that an effect on the financial position of a 

Member, relative, close associate, employer, etc OR an application made by a Member, 

relative, close associate, employer, etc would both probably constitute either an OSI or in 

some cases a DPI. 

6

Agenda Item No 3



MINUTES 

 

To confirm the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 24 May 2021 (to follow). 

7

Agenda Item No 4



Decisions of the Cabinet Relating to Recommendations from the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

The Record of Decision for the most recent Cabinet meeting will contain the decisions in 
respect of the recommendations arising from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

8

Agenda Item No 5



ISSUES REFERRED TO THE COMMITTEE BY COUNCIL, CABINET OR ANOTHER 

COMMITTEE 

 

There are no items for consideration. 

9

Agenda Item No 6



 1 

Notice of Forthcoming Key Decisions which will be made on behalf of the Council 
 

Key 
Decisions 
Number 

Item Date of meeting at which decision will 
be taken by Cabinet (unless specified 

otherwise) 

Summary of Item Agreed for 
inclusion in 

the Work 
Programme 

22 
Approval of a draft Dover Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping Strategy for 
consultation 

17 May 2021 

The report will be seeking cabinet approval of a 
recommendation to consult on a new 
homelessness and rough sleeping strategy for 
Dover. Local housing authorities are required by 
legislation to publish a homelessness strategy. 
The previous strategy was developed on an East 
Kent basis in partnership with Canterbury, 
Shepway and Thanet councils. This strategy has 
expired and the councils have drafted their own 
individual strategies. Some consultation has 
already taken place with key stakeholders in 
scoping the draft document. 

 
Agreed for 
inclusion by 
committee 

8/3/21 

34 

To inform Cabinet of inherited issues 
concerning contract management that 
relate to housing stock and seek 
authorisation to amend certain contracts 

7 June 2021 

When the housing service transferred to the 
direct control of Dover District Council it emerged 
that the contract management processes used 
by East Kent Housing had broken down as had 
the information systems that supported them. 
The result has been that the expected 
governance supporting contractual decisions 
does not currently exist and this report seeks to 
address those governance issues, albeit 
retrospectively. 

To be 
determined 

37 
Award of contract for the provision of Portal 
Official Veterinarian (OV) Services 

17 May 2021 

To agree the award for the provision of Portal 
Official Veterinarian (OV) Services which is due 
to commence 1st July 2021 to conduct statutory 
checks on Products of Animal Origin that are 
imported through Dover Port Health Authority. 

To be 
determined 

38 Revision of Housing Assistance Policy 7 June 2021 

Under the Regulatory Reform (Housing 
Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002, 
the Council is required to have a Housing 
assistance Policy. The last policy dated 2017 
was approved by Cabinet on 3 July 2017 and 
now requires revision. 

To be 
determined 

10

A
genda Item

 N
o 7



 2 

Key 
Decisions 
Number 

Item Date of meeting at which decision will 
be taken by Cabinet (unless specified 

otherwise) 

Summary of Item Agreed for 
inclusion in 

the Work 
Programme 

39 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy 2016-21 Review 

To be confirmed 

The Hackney Carriage and Private Hire 
Licensing Policy 2016-21 is due for review. The 
report will seek authority from Cabinet to 
commence a period of formal public consultation 

To be 
determined 

40 Cable Car Project Update 7 June 2021 

In December 2020 Cabinet considered a 
feasibility appraisal of a cable car between Dover 
Town Centre and Dover Castle, which identified 
that such a project could be financially viable 
provided the Council worked in partnership with 
English Heritage. The two organisations entered 
into a memorandum of understanding and have 
worked in partnership to develop an approach to 
governance, strategic definition, procurement 
and similar matters. The report will provide an 
update on development of the Council’s 
relationship with English Heritage and Cabinet 
will be requested to consider whether to progress 
the project further by procuring a consultant team 
to begin developing detailed designs. 

To be 
determined 

41 
Approval to accept Future High Street Fund 
award from Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government 

7 June 2021 

The Council has recently been awarded £3.2m 
of funding from the Ministry of Housing 
Communities and Local Government for two 
town centre regeneration projects. Permission is 
sought to accept the award to deliver 
improvements to the A20 underpass and provide 
a new creative centre on Bench Street with 
residential units. 

To be 
determined 

42 Dover Economic Growth Strategy 5 July 2021 

A Consultation Draft Economic Strategy has 
been developed and has been subject to 
consultation aligned to the Consultation on the 
Local Plan. This item considers a report to 
Cabinet to agree and adopt the Dover Economic 
Strategy. 

To be 
determined 

 
Note: (1) Key Decisions which have already been taken or the committee has declined to include within the work programme do not appear in this extract 

of the Notice of Forthcoming Key Decisions. 

11



    Version: Thursday, 03 June 
2021 

 Please note items beyond the current month are subject to change depending on Forward Plan, officer availability, etc.  
     

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
WORK PROGRAMME 2020/21 

 

Month Issue 

Resource Implications for Scrutiny 

Reason for Inclusion on the Work 
Programme  

(incl. any actions required) 

Members 
 

On-going or single 
item? 

Officers 
 

(Corporate 
Expenditure unless 
otherwise stated) 

Scrutiny Budget 
Expenditure 

 

Projected Actual 

May 2021 

Performance Report Single Item 
Head of Leadership 
Support 

£0 £0 To consider the report. 

Household Waste 
Collection & Litter 

Single Item 
Head of Commercial 
Services 

£0 £0 To consider the report. 

Draft Dover District 
Council Homelessness 
and Rough Sleeping 
Strategy 2020-2024 

Single Item Head of Housing £0 £0 To consider the report.  

June 2021 Food Poverty Review Review 
Democratic & 
Corporate Services 
Manager 

£0 £0 
To agree the review outcomes to 
report back to Council (Moved 
back due to Purdah) 

July 2021 

Angling at Admiralty Pier Single Item 
Democratic & 
Corporate Services 
Manager 

£0  
Subject to confirmation of 
attendance by DHB 

Flooding in Deal Single Item 
Strategic Director 
(Operations & 
Commercial) 

£0  
To receive an update from the 
Cabinet. 

Street Lighting Single Item 
Head of Assets & 
Building Control 

£0  
To consider the report.[subject to 
confirmation] 

  

12

A
genda Item

 N
o 8



    Version: Thursday, 03 June 
2021 

 Please note items beyond the current month are subject to change depending on Forward Plan, officer availability, etc.  
     

Other Work Programme Items – To be scheduled by the Democratic Services Manager in consultation with the Chair and Controlling 
Group Spokesperson as the work programme permits 

Priority Subject Why on Work Programme? 

On-going work Food Poverty Review Referral from Council 

1 (partly completed Feb 
2021) 

Flooding in Deal 

Agreed for inclusion by Committee 
[Added by Cllr T A Bond] 
Recommendations adopted by Cabinet – 
may return if required following outcome of 
Cabinet actions 

- (in work programme) Climate Emergency Agreed for inclusion by Committee 

- (partially completed 
March 2021) 

Crime and Disorder (including attendance by KRF representative to 
discuss traffic issues in Dover) 

Constitutional Requirement 

- (agreed for post-food 
poverty review so may fall 
in priority) 

Youth Services 
Legacy from previous work programme 
[Added by Cllr S H Beer] – Will not start 
until Food Poverty Review  

- 
Noise nuisance policy and performance (with particular respect to 
the out of hours service) 

Legacy from previous work programme 
[Added by Cllr L A Keen]  

- (post-covid) 
Dover District Leisure Centre - review of performance against targets 
and public transport access provision 

Legacy from previous work programme 
[Added by Cllr L A Keen]  

- Public Toilet Provision  
Agreed for inclusion by Committee 
[Added by Cllr D G Zosseder] 

-  Rural Car Parking 
Agreed for inclusion by Committee 
[Added by Cllr D G Zosseder] 

-  Dover Harbour Board (Traffic Issues related to Port) 
Agreed for inclusion by Committee 
[Added by Cllr D G Zosseder] 

Expected to be June 2021 Street Lighting (KCC and DDC) 
Agreed for inclusion by Committee 
[Added by Cllr M Bates] 

-  Primary Care Services 
Agreed for inclusion by Committee 
[Added by Cllr H M Williams] 

- To be included as 
work programme 
permits 

Greening of Urban Dover 
Agreed for inclusion by Committee 
[Added by Cllr M Rose] 

- (Variable Priority) To 
be included as work 
programme permits 

Update on capital expenditure relating to Digital Agenda 
Legacy from previous work programme 
[Added by Cllr M Rose]  

13



    Version: Thursday, 03 June 
2021 

 Please note items beyond the current month are subject to change depending on Forward Plan, officer availability, etc.  
     

Priority Subject Why on Work Programme? 

- To be included as 
items come forward 

Neighbourhood Plans (as they come forward) 
Legacy from previous work programme  

- To be included once 
council returns to post-
covid operations 

Review of DDC Response to Covid-19 
Legacy from previous work programme 
[Added by Cllr C A Vinson] 

 

14



PUBLIC SPEAKING 

 

Members of the public wishing to speak must register to do so by no later than 2.00 pm on the 
second working day (Thursday) before the meeting. The agenda front sheet will specify which 
items public speaking applies to for that meeting.  
 
The right of the public to speak does not apply to the following agenda items: Apologies; 
Appointment of Substitute Members; Minutes; the Forward Plan, the Scrutiny Work 
Programme (and related documentation) or any agenda item that is not accompanied by a 
written report. 
 

15

Agenda Item No 9



Dover District Council 

Subject: REVISION OF EXISTING HOUSING ASSISTANCE POLICY 

Meeting and Date: Cabinet – 7 June 2021 

Report of: Diane Croucher, Head of Regulatory Services 

Portfolio Holder: Councillor Derek Murphy, Portfolio Holder for Housing and 
Health   

Decision Type: Key Decision 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Purpose of the report: To obtain approval for a revised Housing Assistance Policy whose 
purpose is to simplify the grant administration for applicants and the 
Council. 

Recommendation: That Cabinet approves revisions to the Private Sector Housing 
Assistance Policy to:  

(i) Amend the existing policy in order to simplify and improve the 
assistance available to disabled residents.    

(ii) Authorise the Head of Regulatory Services, in consultation 
with the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health, to make 
further minor changes to the policy. 

 

1. Summary 

1.1 The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002. 
(RRO), allows a Local Housing Authority (LHA) to give financial assistance to 
homeowners for repairs and improvements to their homes. The order requires the LHA 
to agree and publish a Housing Assistance Policy before assistance can be given. The 
policy should detail the conditions and types of grants and loans that are to be made 
available. The current policy was approved by the Council in July 2017 and now 
requires some amendment. 

2. Introduction and Background  

2.1 Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) are grants that all Councils are legally required to 
provide. Funding for this grant is provided by Government. Since April 2016 this 
funding has been provided through the Better Care Fund and has seen our Councils 
funding double. (Last year’s grant was £1,275,590). This has allowed the Council to 
consider providing funding for additional types of assistance under the RRO. One of 
the primary aims behind the additional funding is to ensure that more disabled people 
can live independently in their own homes for longer. 

2.2 The 2017 Policy provided several additional grants to spend this additional money and 
this has been very successful in helping more disabled and vulnerable residents.  This 
report recommends that Cabinet agrees some revisions to the 2017 Policy to improve 
and simplify the provision of this additional funding. A copy of the proposed, revised 
policy is attached at Appendix A.  

2.3 Under the current policy there have been cases where the works of adaptation has 
resulted in the work being funded by up to four different grants/loans. Although this is 

16

Agenda Item No 10



not common it is not unusual for an applicant to make two or three applications to fund 
the works. 

The proposed change is to replace the Disabled Adaptation Grant with a Disabled 
Independent Grant (DIG). This new grant will deal with most situations so that in 
future an applicant will have either a DFG or a DIG. The main features of a DIG are: 

 The grant will have a maximum limit of £38000. (DFG’s is £30,000 and DAG 
£20,000) 

 Repairs of up to £3000 can be included. (Repairs are not included in DFG or 
DAG) 

 Grant conditions only apply for grants that exceed of £15,000. (Conditions for 
DFG start at £5,000 

3. Identification of Options 

3.1 Option 1: To approve the revisions to the Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy as 
set out in this report and provided in the attached appendix. 

3.2 Option 2: Approve the revised Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy subject to 
further amendments.  

3.3 Option 3: To reject the revised Housing Assistance Policy. 

4. Evaluation of Options 

4.1 Option 1 is the recommended option as it will enable the Council to: 

 More effectively utilise DFG funding in accordance with Government guidance 
and reduce administration.   

4.2 Option 2 will need to take account of: 

 The increased additional funding that will need to be spent and the objectives 
the funding is expected to meet contained in the Better Care Fund Policy 
Framework.  

4.3 Option 3 is not recommended as it will mean that spending the budget is not used as 
efficient and will not reduce the unnecessary administration of the current policy.  

5. Resource Implications 

5.1 There are no expected additional resources required and the budget will be 
continuously monitored. 

6. Climate Change and Environmental Implications 

6.1 The change in policy will have no adverse effects on climate change or Environmental 
implications. 

7 Corporate Implications 

7.1 Comment from the Director of Finance (linked to the MTFP): Accountancy has been 
consulted and has no further comments (DL)’  

7.2 Comment from the Solicitor to the Council:  The Solicitor to the Council has been 
consulted in the preparation of this report and has no further comments to make 

17



7.3   Comment from the Equalities Officer: The report has given consideration to the 
equality implications and the revised policy is designed to benefit and have a positive 
impact on some of the protected groups under the Equality Act 2010. In discharging 
their duties members are required to comply with the public sector equality duty as 
set out in Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/15/section/149 

7.4   Comments from Climate Change and Energy Conservation Officer: The provision of 
these grants that improve the thermal efficiency of the property reduce heat loss 
through the fabric of the building with the consequence of reducing demand for heat 
to achieve affordable warmth hence reducing carbon emissions (where heat source 
is from fossil fuels). 

8 Appendices 

  Appendix 1 – Revised Private Sector Housing Assistance Policy 2021 

9   Background Papers 

  Existing Housing Assistance Policy 2017 

  Department of Health/DCLG “Integration and BCF Policy Framework 2017- 
19“(March 2017) 

Contact Officer:  Mr Robin Kennedy, Private Sector Housing Manager (ext 2221). 

18

https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.legislation.gov.uk%2Fukpga%2F2010%2F15%2Fsection%2F149&data=04%7C01%7CRobin.Kennedy%40DOVER.GOV.UK%7C7246fbbe30a1439654b908d90ee31932%7C97d0cb53199d4c70a001375e8c953735%7C0%7C0%7C637557190799578191%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=vGy82gMhkVCHKFhEhbaGOcgVhLJt1fNHSCNojKmwaoI%3D&reserved=0


June 2021 draft April 21 

 

 
 

Appendix 1 

DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

Private Sector Housing Assistance 
Policy and Conditions  

2021 
 
 
 

19



 

2021 

CONTENTS 
 
 

 Page Para 
   
INTRODUCTION 1 1 
   
FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES 2 2 
   

TYPES OF DISCRETIONARY ASSISTANCE AVAILABLE 2 3 

Disabled Home Assistance Grant 3 3.1 
Disabled Relocation Loan 3 3.2 
Disabled Adaptation Loan 
Disabled Independence Grant 
Stair Lift Grant 

3 
4 
4 

3.3 
3.4 
3.5 

Winter warmth Grant 5 3.6 
Urgent Home Loan 5 3.7 
Empty Property Loan  5 3.8 
Other assistance 6 4.0 
   
 DISABLED FACILATIES GRANT 7 5 
   
CONDITIONS OF ASSISTANCE 8 6 
Buildings Not Attracting Grant Assistance 8 6.1 
Eligible Applicants 8 6.2 
Form of Application 8 6.3 
Eligible Works 8 6.4 
Notification of Approval of Assistance 9 6.5 
Amount of Assistance 9 6.6 
Supervision of Works 9 6.7 
Conditions of Payment 10 6.8 
Payment of Assistance 10 6.9 
Grant Conditions  11 6.10 
Loan Conditions 12 6.11 
Repayment upon Breach of Conditions 13 6.12 
Second Grants or Loans 13 6.13 
   
DEFINITIONS 13 7 
Relevant Means Tested Benefit and Vulnerable Persons 14 7.1 
Certified Date 14 7.2 
Disposal 14 7.3 
   
APPEAL PROCEDURE 14 8 
   
APPENDICES   
   
A: Housing Assistance Policy Summary 15  
   

 

20



 

April 2021 1 

DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Regulatory Reform Order 2002 
Housing Assistance Policy and Conditions 2021 

 
 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

 
 This document details Dover District Councils 2021 Housing Assistance Policy and 

Conditions. This policy document replaces the previous policy dated 2017. 
 

This policy has been adopted under Article 4 of the Regulatory Reform (Housing 
Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002. The Order enables local authorities to 
develop a means of providing assistance to households living in the private sector to 
carry out repairs, improvements and adaptations so that they can address local needs 
and priorities. In order to make use of these powers, the Council has to publish a 
Housing Assistance Policy.  
 
The policy also details our policy on mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant, which is 
provided under The Housing Grants and Reconstruction Act 1989.  
 
 
The main focus of our discretionary Housing Assistance is towards: 
 

 Schemes to improve the health and independence of persons with disabilities, 
the elderly and those with long term health conditions, 

 To reduce the number of homes with serious hazards, 

 To enable more effective use of the mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant, 

 To encourage empty homes back into use.  
 

 
The first part of the document relates to the types of Assistance available and the 
second part details the conditions relating to this assistance.  A table of the types of 
assistance available is attached at Appendix A. 

 
 The Policy reflects; local housing conditions, whose details are, contained in the 

Private Sector House Condition Survey 2020.  It also reflects the contents of Circular 
05/03 “Housing Renewal” issued by the Office of the Deputy Prime Minister in June 
2003 and the Better Care Fund: policy framework guidance 2014 

 
 The Policy addresses the following priorities: 

 

 To remove serious (catergory1) hazards in homes occupied by households on low 
income 

 

 The need to bring of empty homes back into use; 
 

 To provide adaptations to existing homes that meet disabled person’s needs. 
 

 To assist with essential works to assist disabled, elderly and vulnerable people to 
remain safely and independent in their home; 

 

 To enable homes to be efficiently heated for persons whose long-term health 
conditions and age makes them vulnerable to the cold. 

21



 

April 2021 2 

 

 To assist in schemes that provides help to enable residents to be discharged from 
hospital into their home safely.   

 

 To provide help for vulnerable people to live safely in their home. 
 
 The housing assistance conditions are to ensure that assistance is used as effectively 

as possible, that monies are recycled where possible and to provide assistance to 
those persons in greatest need within the constraints of the available budget. 

 
This revised Policy came into force on 1 July 2021 and will be further reviewed in 2023. 
The Head of Regulatory Services with the relevant Portfolio Holder  may make minor 
changes to the policy. 

 
 Any queries relating to these Policies and Conditions should be referred to the Private 

Sector Housing Manager, Dover District Council, White Cliffs Business Park, Dover 
CT16 3PJ.  Telephone: 01304 872397. 
 Web address: www.dover.gov.uk/privatesectorhousing 
 
 

 
2. FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES 

 
It is neither possible nor desirable for the Council to offer financial assistance for all 
private sector housing condition problems. It can only directly assist a proportion of 
these through targeting the limited available resources at priority areas. 

 
Although the responsibility to maintain private property rests firmly with the owner, it is 
recognised that the private housing stock is a major public asset and can have an 
important effect on the occupier’s health and independence. Most assistance is offered 
as an investment in this local and national asset, for long-term public benefit, economic 
regeneration and to improve the health and independence of our residents which 
results in less demand on health and social care resources. In addition, certain forms 
of assistance can help balance the local housing market in a way that gives more 
choice and opportunities to those in housing need and bring additional good quality 
housing back into use. 

 
The use of loans will be used where appropriate and loans and grants that are repaid 
will be recycled into further private sector housing renewal. The Council and central 
Government considers that this is an appropriate way forward given the pressure on 
resources and because, over time, it will allow more homeowners to be assisted with 
a limited amount of resource.  
 

 

3. TYPES OF DISCRETIONARY ASSISTANCE AVAILABLE 
 

Subject to sufficient funds being available financial assistance to qualifying residential 
premises will be provided as loans and grants.  Once the budget has been committed 
no further offers will be made. In such circumstances, the Council may draw up a 
waiting list of people wanting assistance.  The types of discretionary assistance 
available are detailed below. 
 

3.1 Disabled Home Assistance Grant 
 

This grant is only available to persons receiving a mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 
or a Disabled Independence Grant. The application must be made by the homeowners 

22

http://www.dover.gov.uk/privatesectorhousing


 

April 2021 3 

of the property being adapted. In the case of a tenanted property this will be the 
landlord. The maximum grant is £7000. 
 
The purpose of the grant is to carry out essential works of repair to enable the 
adaptation works to be completed. Examples of eligible works include repairs to the 
floor, walls or ceiling of a room being adapted or upgrading services such as electrical 
wiring or drainage to enable the adaptation to function properly. The grant is conditional 
that if the property is sold within 10 years of the certified date (completed works) it will 
be repayable. The grant will be recorded as a local land charge. 
 
In exceptional cases the grant may be increased. This is at the discretion of the Private 
Sector Housing Manager. 
 
 

3.2 Disabled Relocation Grant 
 

In appropriate cases where a person’s is eligible for Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) 
assistance but the property is unsuitable for adaptation to their specific needs, or the 
Council believe it would be more reasonable or practical to move and adapt another 
property, a Disabled Relocation Grant may be offered. The maximum assistance is up 
to £20,000 comprising of a grant covering 70% of the eligible cost.  
 
This grant will only be available to a disabled person following a decision by Council in 
consultation with Social Services that the existing property cannot be economically or 
reasonably adapted to their needs. The grant conditions require the total grant to be 
repaid if the property is sold within 10 years of the certified date or is no longer occupied 
by the applicant(s). The grant will be recorded as a local land charge. The grant 
conditions will expire after 10 years. 
 
The grant will only be offered where it can be shown that financial hardship would be 
caused to the applicant if they had to find another suitable property within their existing 
resources. The applicant may be asked to undertake the statutory means test for a 
Disabled Facilities Grant and/or provide other details to confirm there is financial 
hardship. 
 
The grant will pay for legal and moving costs and any agreed reasonable additional 
cost to purchase a more suitable property. Social Services and the Council must agree 
the suitability of the new property. If the new property requires adaptation, a Disabled 
Facilities Grant may also be offered.  
 
The grant will normally be paid on completion of the purchase of the property. In 
exceptional cases some of the grant may be released on exchange of contract. 
  

 
3.3 Disabled Adaptation Loan 

 

Where a person is in receipt of a Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) or disabled 
Independence Grant (DIG) and the Council believe that in consultation with Kent Social 
Services it is necessary, reasonable and practicable for the DFG adaptations works to 
exceed the maximum grant limit, a loan of up to £20,000 will be made available to fund 
the cost of eligible works that exceeds the DFG maximum. 
Where no financial test of resource has been undertaken, then the decision whether 
to provide a loan will be subject to a financial test of resources (the DIG test) to confirm 
the applicant is unable to fund the works themselves.  
 

23



 

April 2021 4 

The loan will be interest free and secured by a registered charge on the property and 
will be repayable on sale or change of ownership of the property. The loan is only 
available to the owner(s) of the property. See 6.11 for details. 
 

 
3.4 Disabled Independence Grant (DIG) 
 

This grant will be offered instead of receiving a DFG. This will be in cases where the 
applicant has a contribution towards a DFG, or the applicant prefers apply for the DIG 
than a DFG. An applicant cannot receive both Grants. 
  
This grant will be made available to the property owners and private and social tenants 
and a person meets the disabled criteria to be eligible for a Disabled Facilities Grant 
(DFG).   
All application will be subject to the statutory mean test for a DFG, but the calculation 
will exclude the first £20,000 of income. This should enable most applicants to receive 
a grant. The maximum grant will be £30,000 plus any cost towards fees up to a 
maximum of £5,000. The grant will also allow £3,000 towards any essential works of 
repair to enable the works to be completed. (The total grant possible if £38,000). 
 
In cases where the applicant still has a contribution, the applicant will need to fund this 
contribution towards the cost of the work. If the eligible works exceed the maximum 
grant the applicant can receive then they can apply  for a Disabled Adaptation Loan. 
Only one application can be made at a time and no further applications can be made 
within two years of approval 
 
The request for adaptations will be subject to a home assessment by a suitably 
qualified person such as an Occupational Therapist. 
Where the application is made by a tenant the approval the owner of the property being 
adapted must be obtained.  
 
The first £15,000 of grant has no conditions. Any amount over £15,000 will be subject 
to conditions that require that the amount above £15,000 is to be repaid if the property 
is sold or is no longer occupied by the applicant(s). The grant conditions will apply for 
5 years from the date the works are completed. 
 
If repayment of the grant would cause hardship, then the Council may waive or reduce 
repayment of the grant in accordance with the criteria stated in paragraph 5.2. 

 
3.5 Stairlift Grant  
 

Where there is an urgent need for a stairlift in a disabled person’s home, a grant of up 
to £6,000 will be provided for a stairlift in the following cases;  

a) Where this has caused a delayed discharge of the patient due to the lack of a 
stairlift in their accommodation or 

b)  Where a person is known to become disabled following an operation (such as 
leg amputation) and a stairlift is required before the person can be discharged. 

c) Where the existing stairlift is more than 10 years old, is not working and 
beyond economic repair. 

The grant will be subject to the same means test that is applied to a DIG. The grant 
can be accessed by owner occupiers and private tenants (with the landlord’s 
permission). The request for a stairlift will be subject to a home assessment by a 
suitably qualified person such as an Occupational Therapist. The responsibility for its 

24



 

April 2021 5 

maintenance and servicing would be the grant recipient. The Council have the right to 
choose a preferred contractor to supply and fit the lift.   

 
 

3.6  Winter warmth Grant 
 
This grant is intended to reduce the number of cold homes occupied by older people 
with long term health conditions. It will pay for heating or insulation (normally 
replacement boilers) where the applicant is over 60 and has a long-term illness. The 
maximum grant is £7,000. Documentation is required from a health professional that 
the applicant has a long-term health condition.  
 

 The grant is subject to repayment conditions for 5 years from the certified date. 

 During the grant condition period, the grant is repayable if the property is sold, 
or the applicants are deceased or no longer occupy the property.  

 The grant is only available to owner occupiers. 
 
 

 

3.7 Urgent Home loan   

  
 This interest free loan is available to owner-occupiers who are in receipt of a means 

tested benefit or who have a financial contribution of less than a £10,000 using the 
statutory (DFG) means test and whose properties give rise to a serious hazard 
(category 1) likely to cause a risk of harm. The hazard will be assessed using the 
statutory Housing Health and Safety Rating System.  

 
 The maximum loan is £20,000. The eligible works are those which eliminate the 

serious hazard(s) in the property. This loan will not pay for minor repairs to heating 
systems or general maintenance items such as broken window glazing. The loan is 
repayable when the property is sold, or the applicant(s) dies, or the property is no 
longer occupied by the applicants. See section 6.11. 

 
 As a general guide, works of under £1000 will not be eligible for assistance. The loan 
will normally be registered with land registry but in exceptional cases the loan may be 
placed as a local land charge. 
 
Landlords and tenants are not eligible to apply. 

 
 

3.8 Empty Property Loan 
 

 Where a property owner has an approved Kent County Council no use empty loan to 
bring a long-term empty property back into use, the Council may provide a further 
interest free loan of £15,000 for each dwelling brought back into use. The loan will fund 
no more than a maximum of 5 units for each application (£75,000 in total). With the no 
use empty loan, this will provide a loan of up to £40,000 per dwelling. The total budget 
will be £300k for this scheme. The loans will be administered by KCC and will be repaid 
after 3 years. The loans will be secured with a charge on property.  
 
 
 

 
4.0  OTHER ASSISTANCE 
 
 

25



 

April 2021 6 

4.1 Dover Home Enablement Service 

 

The Council will provide funding for a service called the “Dover Home Enablement 
Service”. This is a free service to patients who are over 50 years old. It will enable 
earlier discharge from hospital back to the home environment, where it is a housing 
related issue which is preventing them from being discharged, or to improve the 
home environment to prevent hospital admission in the first place.  

Normally referrals for the service will originate from the local hospitals, Care 
Navigators, GPs, Occupational Therapists and health trainers.  The service will 
enable earlier discharge from hospital by providing improvements to the home 
environment which includes installation of key safes, handrails, bringing a bed from 
upstairs to a downstairs room, clearing a room to make it safe to move around in 
(including tackling hoarding), fitting locks to doors and windows and carrying out a 
free home safety check.  

 The assistance offered by this service will be reviewed regularly by the Private Sector 
Housing manager and Head of Service and if funding is available, additional 
assistance will be provided to enable vulnerable persons to remain safely in their 
home.   This could include clearing rooms of hoarded items (sometimes on a large 
scale) to make way for a bed or to prevent falling in the home.  These are looked at 
on a case by case basis.  Sometimes deep cleaning of parts of the house will also be 
considered as part of the assistance, particularly where the condition of the property 
is preventing discharge from hospital or is deemed to be seriously detrimental to the 
occupant’s health. 
 
  

 4.2 Handyperson Scheme 
 
The East Kent Homes Improvement Agency (HIA) has for more than 20 years 
provided help to vulnerable households such as the elderly and disabled to remain 
safely and independently in their home through professional advice and help. Most 
households who obtain assistance from the council are assisted by the agency and 
they will find reliable contractors and assist with paperwork. The council believes the 
agency to be a valuable asset to improve housing conditions for those most 
vulnerable and will continue to support the local HIA.  
 
The HIA services also include a Handyperson Scheme.  This service employs a 
handyperson to carry out minor repairs, security and health and safety works for private 
sector householders, who are either vulnerable or who have a physical/mental 
disability which prevents them undertaking the works themselves. If funds are 
available, the council will provide financial assistance to the Handyperson scheme for 
those on low income and in particularly to assist with works that will remove hazards 
in the home or minor adaptations to help a disabled person remain independent in their 
home. 

 
 

4.3 Health and Housing Coordinator Service 
 
This is a free service to patients at the William Harvey Hospital and Queen Elizabeth 
Queen Mother Hospital who reside in the Dover District funded by Better Care Fund.  
The service is run by East Kent Home Improvement Agency by employing a person to 
be an integral member of the hospital discharge team to aid a robust approach to 
support patient discharge quickly, safely and effectively.   
 
Additionally, the role involves undertaking visit to the patient’s home following 
discharge to review the home environment with a view to addressing issues that could 
prevent the patient from re-entering hospital.  Issues likely to be tackled would include 

26



 

April 2021 7 

clutter and hoarding, uneven or excessive height of door thresholds, trailing cables, 
loose carpets, or any issues that could cause slips, trips and falls.  Assessment for 
minor adaptations and equipment to enable independence in the home can also take 
place, along with fitting of key safes to facilitate care packages.  Assessments for 
suitability for telecare, checking the property for disrepair and adequate heating, 
assessing for bathing difficulties and getting up and downstairs and determining 
whether a referral to occupational therapy for an assessment for DFG is required 
 
 

5.0 DISABLED FACILITIES GRANT (DFG) 
 
 This is a mandatory grant and is available to owners or private sector tenants to 

provide disabled adaptations to enable an occupier access to essential basic facilities 
or access their home.  The conditions of the grant are contained in the Housing 
Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996. The maximum grant is 
£30,000.  Examples of common adaptations include: 

 Providing ramps to allow a person to get in and out of their house 

 Stair lifts and through floor lifts to access bedroom and bathroom 

 Level access showers for people who cannot use a conventional shower or bath 

 Widening of doors 

 
All applicants will be subject to a statutory means test.  The Council must also be 
satisfied that the works required are "necessary and appropriate" to meet the needs 
of the disabled occupant and we are also legally required to consult with Kent County 
Council Social Services (Occupational Therapy team). 
 
The work must be considered "reasonable and practicable" bearing in mind the 
layout and condition of the property.  An officer of Dover District Council will assess 
this. Where adaptations are not practical a Disabled Relocation Grant may be offered 
to help the applicant obtain a more suitable property for adaptation.  Where an 
overcrowding issue overlaps with a disability issue, the overcrowding should be 
resolved first by the family. Issues of overcrowding will not be considered under 
grant. 
 
 
Other assistance is also available to help with any contribution. See sections 3.1 and 
3.3. 
 
It’s the policy of the Council to only fund works that are mandatory as prescribed by 
the Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  

  
If the property is sold within 5 years from completion of the works, under the general 
consent by the Secretary of State in 2008, the Council will in most cases require 
repayment of some of the grant. The first £5000 of the grant is not repayable but   the 
remaining grant will be repayable up to a maximum of £10,000. In determining whether 
to require repayment, the council will consider. 

 

(i) The extent to which the recipient of the grant would suffer financial hardship were 
they to be required to repay all or any of the grant. 

(ii) Whether the disposal of the premises is to enable the recipient of the grant to take 
up employment, or to change the location of his employment. 

27



 

April 2021 8 

(iii) Whether the disposal is made for reasons connected with the physical or mental 
health or well-being of the recipient of the grant or of a disabled occupant of the 
premises; and 

(iv) Whether the disposal is made to enable the recipient of the grant to live with, or 
near, any person who is disabled or infirm and in need of care, which the recipient 
of the grant is intending to provide, or who is intending to provide care of which 
the recipient of the grant is in need by reason of disability or infirmity, 

 
 
Where an applicant no longer requires the installed specialist equipment, the applicant 
should notify the Council who may arrange to have the equipment removed for use by 
another disabled person. 
 
Where an applicant successfully claims for personal injury in respect of works required 
under a mandatory disabled facilities grant then they will be required to repay the 
Council the grant, so far as is appropriate, out of the proceeds of the claim. 
 
 

6. CONDITIONS OF ASSISTANCE 
 
6.1 Buildings Not Attracting Grant Assistance 
 

 Properties, which are not of a permanent nature such as houseboats, and 
caravans. (This condition does not apply to caravans for a Disabled Facilities Grant 
or Disabled Homes Assistance Grant or Disabled Independence Grant) 

 

 Sheds, outhouses and extensions such as conservatories that do not have Building 
Regulations approval. 

 

 Non-residential buildings. (Except Empty Property Assistance) 
 
 
6.2 Eligible Applicants 
 
 Eligible applicants for grants and loans are freeholders and long leaseholders with at 

least 10 years interest left in the property. A tenant can only apply in the case of a 
Disabled Facilities Grant or a stairlift grant or a Disabled Independence Grant.  
Except in the case of Empty Property assistance, the property must be the applicant’s 
or member of their family sole residence. 

 
 
6.3 Form of Application 
 

 Application for assistance must be on the forms prescribed by the Council.  
 

 Estimates and invoices cannot be accepted from the applicant or a member of the 
family of the applicant.  In some cases, assistance may be payable towards DIY works, 
but this will be for material cost only. 

 
 A completed application should normally be made within 20 weeks of any formal offer 

of assistance.  An offer will expire after six months and if a completed application has 
not been received by this time, the offer may be cancelled. If it is evident that the 
applicant is making no attempt to make an application, the offer may be cancelled 
before six months so the funds can be reallocated.  The Council can cancel an offer at 
any time.  The applicant will be informed in writing if an offer is cancelled. 

 
 

28



 

April 2021 9 

6.4 Eligible Works 
 
 Eligible works will be those that are identified by an officer of the Council’s Private 

Sector Housing Team with reference to the Council’s policy. Any relevant fees will also 
be eligible for assistance. Any assistance that is requested but is not determined as 
eligible within the assistance policy can be considered under the appeal procedure.  

 
 Works that have started before the assistance has been approved will not receive 

assistance. The Council may in exceptional circumstances agree to assist such works 
if permission is sought before the works commence. Such permission will always be 
in writing and will be subject to a visit by an officer from the Council’s Private Sector 
Housing team.   

 
 Any costs, which would be eligible for assistance under an insurance claim or third-

party claim, will not attract grant assistance. In exceptional cases assistance may be 
given on condition it is repaid out of the proceeds of any future claim. 

 
 Works outside the curtilage of the property are not normally eligible for assistance 

unless they relate to the provision of essential services such as water, gas or electricity 
or access for a disabled person. 

 
6.5 Notification of Approval of Assistance 
 

The Council will notify an applicant in writing whether the application for assistance is 
approved or refused. The notification will be provided as soon as reasonably 
practicable after receipt of a completed application.  

 
The approval will specify the amount of assistance, the amount that is ineligible, the 
applicant’s contribution if any towards the eligible costs and the expiry date of the 
assistance.  Assistance is not transferable to another person on the sale of the 
property. 

 
 In the case of refusal, the Council will give the reason for refusal. 

 
In both the above cases, the applicant will be able to appeal against the decision see 
section 8. 
 

 
6.6 Amount of Assistance 
 
 The council will specify the maximum amount for assistance. These maximum 

amounts are inclusive of all costs including Value Added Tax and fees. The current 
limits are summarised in the table, Appendix A. 

 
If the Council is satisfied that owing to circumstances beyond the control of the 
applicant, the work has increased in cost due to unforeseen works, it may increase the 
assistance subject to the maximum limits allowed. The Council must give its approval 
of any increase in assistance before the additional cost is incurred. 
 
In the case of an increase in a loan the applicant will need to agree the increase in 
loan in writing before approval. 

 
 In cases where eligible costs have reduced, the assistance may also be reduced 

accordingly, and the applicant informed in writing as soon as possible.  
 
 Any works that are started before approval will not receive assistance unless 

agreed in writing by the Council beforehand. 

29



 

April 2021 10 

 
 
6.7 Supervision of Works 
 
 Applicants are advised to use a suitably qualified person to supervise and arrange the 

works. This can be the East Kent Homes Improvement Agency - who specialise in this 
work - or another approved surveyor to assist with their applications.  

 
Relevant fees to the Home Improvement Agency or any other approved managing 
agent will be included as eligible works up to a maximum of 12% of the eligible costs.  
 
Building Regulations or Planning approval, or any other agreed professional fees, can 
be paid out of the loan or grant. 

 
 The building works contract will be between the applicant and their chosen contractor. 

The Council will not have any contract with the builder or any agency. An officer from 
the Council’s Private Sector Housing team or our approved agent will check the works 
to ensure they are carried out according to the specification of work and in accordance 
with good building practice.  However, the Council and its officers are not liable for any 
poor workmanship and do not provide any guarantee. Any faults with the works will be 
a matter between the applicant and their contractor. 

 
 Where eligible works are not of an acceptable standard, the Council may withhold 

monies. 
 
 
6.8 Conditions of Payment 
 
 Assistance will only be paid if: 
 
 (a) The work is completed within the time stated in the approval or such further 

period the council may allow. This must be confirmed in writing. This period is 
normally 12 months from approval, 

 
 (b) The work is carried out in accordance with the conditions of approval, 
 
 (c) The work is carried out by one of the contractors whose estimate accompanied 

the application. The Council will normally assess the assistance on the lowest 
estimate, 

 
 (d) The applicant completes a request for payment form that confirms acceptance 

and satisfaction of the completed works and that the builders are not members 
of the applicant’s family (see footnote 6 for definition), 

 
 (e) The Council is provided with an acceptable invoice or receipt for payment for 

the works or fees.  The invoice must include full details of the builder/surveyor 
employed including VAT registration details.  The applicant or a member of his 
family cannot submit an invoice, 

 
 (f) The Council has been notified in advance that the works have begun. This 

should normally be in writing, 
 
 (g) That the works have been completed to a satisfactory standard and in 

accordance with the grant offer and estimates, 
 

30



 

April 2021 11 

(h) Any copies of specified guarantees and test certificates are submitted. All 
electrical work should only be carried out by an approved contractor approved 
under current Building Regulations.  

 
 
6.9 Payment of Assistance 
 
 Interim payments will normally be paid, but these are at the discretion of the Council. 

The applicant’s contribution (if any) will be taken into account in any payment. Normally 
the applicant will have to pay any contribution they may have towards the cost of the 
work first before any grant payments are made. 

 
 Payments can only be paid for work completed and not for materials not yet used or 

installed. Eligible works must be carried out to the satisfaction of the council and an 
acceptable invoice supplied.  

 
 Normally all payments are paid direct to the builder. In appropriate situations such as 

for fees, payment may be made to the applicant or another third party where the 
applicant has already paid such costs.  Where an escrow agreement exists, payment 
may be made to such a scheme at the agreement of both parties. 

 
In the case of a Disabled Facilities Grant, payment of the grant may be delayed by up 
to six months where existing budgets have already been committed. 
 
 

6.10 Grant Conditions - 
 
 A certificate of future occupation must be submitted with a Disabled Facilities Grant 

and some other grants.  
 
 An Owners certificate must be submitted except where it is a landlord’s application. 

An owner’s certificate requires the applicant to confirm they have at least 10 years 
interest left in the property and that it will be occupied by them or a member of their 
family as their main residence for 5 years from the certified date.  

 
 Landlords receiving assistance will be required to submit a landlord’s certificate. This 

requires that the landlord has at least 10 years interest left in the property and intends 
to have the property available for letting as a residence for 5 years from the certified 
date (completion of the works).  Any new letting does not include a holiday letting or a 
long tenancy (leasehold) or letting to a member of the owner’s family.  

 
 Disposal – It is also a condition of most grants (except stairlift grant, winter warmth 

grant)  that it will have to be re-paid in whole or in part, if the property or part of it is 
disposed of or sold during the period of the grant/loan conditions. This is normally 10 
or 5 years from the date the works are completed. In the case of a Disabled Facilities 
Grant the first £5000 of the grant is not repayable and the maximum repayment is 
£10,000.  

 
 Death of the applicant(s) – During the 10-year grant repayment conditions, the grant 

will become repayable on the death of the applicant or in the case of a joint application, 
both applicants.  

 
The owner is required, within 21 days of written notice by the Council, to give a 
statement that the property is occupied in accordance with the grant/loan conditions. 

 
  Where the property is still subject to grant/loan conditions, the owner must also inform 

the Council in writing of his intention to dispose of the property. 
 

31



 

April 2021 12 

 Unless stated otherwise, a grant will normally have conditions lasting 10 years 
requiring repayment of the grant if the property is sold or the applicants have died or 
vacated the property. Such condition will be recorded as a local land charge. If there 
is evidence that repayment of a grant will cause extreme hardship, then the grant 
repayment amount will be reduced or waived. Any request must be put in writing and 
agreed by the Private Sector housing Manager. 

 
 
6.11 Loan Conditions 
 

A loan will normally be subject to the loan being registered as a legal charge at the 
Land Registry office. The charge for this (currently £50) will be added to the loan. In 
some exceptional cases where it is not possible to place a charge with land registry 
the loan may still be approved but will instead be recorded as a local land charge. In 
the case of a breach of loan conditions the whole loan becomes repayable to the 
Council. All loans paid will be repayable in the following cases: 
 

 On disposal of the relevant dwelling or otherwise part with possession, by way of 
lease or otherwise of it or; 
 

 On the death of the applicant or in the case of joint applicants, on the death of the 
both applicants. 
 

 If the property is not occupied in accordance with the certificate of future occupation 
or loan agreement. (Loans will normally be repaid where the applicants have not 
occupied the property for six months or longer.) 

 
Where repayment of the loan becomes due, the applicant will be notified, in writing of 
the due date for repayment of the loan. 

 
No interest will be charged on the loan, except where the loan is not repaid by the due 
date, or in any event of a breach of the loan conditions.  

 
If the loan is not repaid by the due date, interest will be charged on the full amount of 
the loan from the last date by which the loan was required to be repaid to the local 
authority.  This will be a variable rate set at the Bank Base Lending Rate + 4%. The 
actual rate applied will be the Bank Base Lending Rate current on the last day by which 
the loan was due for repayment + 4%. 

 
Interest will be calculated daily and will be based on the amount of the loan 
outstanding. 
 
In exceptional circumstances the Council may exercise its discretion not to require 
repayment of the loan or require a lesser amount.  

 
If conditions are breached after approval of Council assistance and before completion 
of works, then payments made in respect of partially completed works shall be repaid 

to the Council in full, together with compound interest. 
 
In all such cases, the applicant will be informed of the appeal procedure against any 
decision. The Council may in exceptional circumstances determine not to require 
repayment or require a lesser amount. 

 
 
6.12 Repayment upon Breach of Conditions 
 

32



 

April 2021 13 

In the case of a breach of grant/loan conditions the grant/loan becomes repayable to 
the Council.  

 In the case where an applicant ceases to be the owner, or it appears to the Council 
that the applicant was not at the time of the application being approved entitled to the 
grant, no payment shall be made and the grant/loan cancelled. In the case where 
interim payments have been paid, no further payments will be made, and the Council 
may recover any previous payments. 

 
In all such cases, the applicant will be informed of the appeal procedure against any 
decision. The Council may in exceptional circumstances determine not to require 
repayment or require a lesser amount. 

 

 
6.13 Second Grants or Loans 
 
 Grants and loans will not be paid for items of work that have received housing 

assistance before under this or any previous schemes. Exceptions may be made 
where the item has reached its normal life expectancy. 

  
 A property will normally only receive a second grant or loan when the original grant 

and loan has been repaid or its conditions expire. At the discretion of the Private Sector 
Housing Manager another loan or grant will be paid in exceptional circumstances. 

 
7. DEFINITIONS  
 
7.1 Relevant Means Tested Benefit  
 

A pass-porting benefit for loans and grants is someone that receives a relevant means 
tested benefit. Such benefits change from time to time but at the time this policy was 
written the relevant means tested benefits were the following: 
 

 Working Tax Credit (with an income less than £17,700). 
 

 Child Tax Credit (with an income less than £16,190). 
 

 Housing Benefit. 
 

 Income Support. 
 

 Income based Job Seekers Allowance. 
 

 Guarantee Pension Credit.  
 

 Income-based Employment and Support Allowance. 
 

 Universal Credit. 
 

 
7.2 Certified Date 
 
 This is the date when Dover District Council private sector housing deems the work to 

be satisfactorily completed. 
 
 
7.3 Disposal 
 

33



 

April 2021 14 

 A disposal includes the whole or part of the property and is a conveyance of the 
freehold or assignment of the lease or the grant of a lease for more than 21 years. 

 
 
8 APPEAL PROCEDURE 
   
 An appeal can be made in the following cases: 
 

 In the event of disagreement with a decision, 

 In the case that one of the conditions of one of the loans and grants should be 
waived or changed, 

 That there is an exceptional case for providing assistance which is not within 
the Councils existing policy, 

 There has been some error or excessive delay in the processing of a loan or 
grant, 

 Where repayment of the loan or grant would cause undue hardship. 
 
 

In such cases the person should write preferably by email in the first instance to:  
 privatesectorhousing@dover.gov.uk 
 
 Private Sector Housing Manager 
 Dover District Council 
 White Cliffs Business Park 
 Dover 
 Kent CT16 3PJ 
  
 We will normally respond within 21 Days of our decision. 
 
 If you are still unhappy with our decision, then you should contact the Head of 

Regulatory Services to make a further appeal or make a formal complaint to our 
complaint officer. 

 
 These conditions are dated June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

34

mailto:privatesectorhousing@dover.gov.uk


 

April 2021 15 

APPENDIX A 
 
DOVER DISTRICT COUNCIL 
SUMMARY OF HOUSING ASSISTANCE POLICY 2021 

 
Type of Assistance Available 

   
Special Conditions 

 
 

 
1. Disabled Home Assistance Grant 
 

A home owner who is in receipt of a 
Disabled Facilities Grant can obtain a 
Disabled Home Assistance Grant of up to 
£7000 in order to carry out essential works, 
e.g. Electrical repairs to enable the 
Disabled Facilities Grant works to 
proceed. 

 
 

   
 
 
 
• Repayable if property sold 

within 10 years; 
 
• Applicant must be in receipt of 

Disabled Facilities Grant. 

     Owners can only apply 
 

 

 
2. Disabled Relocation Grant 
 

In appropriate cases where a property is 
unsuitable for adaptation with a Disabled 
Facilities Grant and it represents better 
value for money, a Disabled Relocation 
Grant will be offered up to a maximum of 
£20,000. This will pay for legal and moving 
costs and any agreed increase in the cost 
to purchase a more suitable property. 
 
 

   
 
 
• Grant to pay for 70% of costs. 
 
• Repayable if property sold or 

applicant(s) die within 10 
years. 

 
• Applicant must be eligible for a 

Disabled Facilities Grant. 
 
• Will be subject to a means 

test. 

 

 
3.  Disabled Adaptation Loan 
   
       Where a person is in receipt of a 

Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG) and 
Disabled Independence Grant(DIG) to 
exceed the maximum DFG grant limit of 
£30,000, a loan of up to £20,000 will be 
made available to fund the cost of eligible 
woks that exceeds the DFG maximum. 

   
 
 
• Repayable if property sold, 

unoccupied or on death. 

 
• Applicant must be in receipt of 

a Disabled Facilities Grant. 
 
• Will be subject to a means 

test. 

 

35



 

April 2021 16 

HOUSING ASSISTANCE POLICY  2021 

 
 
4.  Disabled Facilities Grant 

 
A mandatory grant to provide adaptations 
to homes occupied by disabled people.  
Maximum grant of £10,000 including fees 
Grant conditions apply 

    

 Means tested grant  

 Grant may be repayable if sold or 
the applicant(s) die within 5 
years; 

 Both owner occupiers and 
private tenants can apply 
 

 

 
5.  Disabled Independence Grant 
   

A grant of up to £30,000 for adaptations 
where the applicant is eligible for a DFG.  
Plus, up to £5000 towards fees and 
£3,000 towards any essential works of 
repair. 
No conditions on the first £15,000 of grant 
assistance. 

 
 

   

 Applicant must be eligible for 
a Disabled Facilities Grant 

 Generous mean test, most 
applicants will pass. 

 Grant repayable if sold or the 
applicant(s) die within 5 
years; 

 Both owner occupiers and 
private tenants can apply 
 

 

  
6.  Stairlift Grant 
   
       Where there is an urgent need for a 

stairlift, a grant of up to £6,000 may be 
provided in eligible cases. 

   
 
 

 Means tested. 

 No conditions 

 

 
7. Urgent Home Assistance Loan 
 

This is a loan of up to £20,000 to owner-
occupiers who whose home contains a 
serious hazard(s). 
 

 
 

   
•    Interest free loan. 
• Repayable if property sold, 

unoccupied or on death. 
• Only owner occupiers can apply. 
• Subject to a means test. 

 

 

 
8.  Winter Warmth Grant 
 

A grant of up to £7,000 to pay for heating 
or insulation for the over 60’s with health 
conditions 

   

 repayable if sold within 10 
years. 

 Applicant to be over 60 with 
long term health condition.  

 

36



 

April 2021 17 

 
9. Empty Property Loan 
 
      Where a KCC no use empty loan has 

been approved a further loan is available 
from DDC. 

 
 

   

 Only available to owners 
receiving a KCC no-use empty 
loan;  

 Loan administered by KCC. 

 Loan repayable after 3 years 

 

 
10.  Other Assistance 

 
a) Dover Home Enablement Service 
 
b) Handyperson scheme 

 
c) Health and Housing Coordinator Service 

 
d)  

 
 

   
This assistance is provided by the 
East Kent Homes Improvement 
Agency to provide help and increase 
the independence in the home for 
vulnerable people. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

37


	Agenda
	1 Apologies
	2 Appointment of Substitute Members
	3 Declarations of Interest
	4 Minutes
	5 Decisions of the Cabinet Relating to Recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	6 Issues referred to the Committee by Council, Cabinet, or another Committee
	7 Notice of Forthcoming Key Decisions
	8 Scrutiny Work Programme
	9 Public Speaking
	10 Revised Housing Assistance Policy
	Housing Assistance Policy - Appendix 1


